# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDE TILED

JOHN MILLS, JR.

NOV 15 1983

Appellant,

SID J. WHITE

vs.

CASE NO.

63,092 CLERK SUPREME COURT

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR WAKULLA COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROOSEVELT RANDOLPH KNOWLES & RANDOLPH 121 1/2 S. Monroe St. Tallahassee, FL 32301 (904) 222-3768

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

#

# TABLE OF CITATIONS (cont.)

CASES	PAGE			
<u>Williams v. State</u> , 414 So.2d 509 (Fla. 1982)	42			
Young v. State, 195 So.569 (1939)	34			
Zippo Manufactury v. Rogers, 216 F.Supp. 670 (S.D.N.Y. 1963)	24,25			
CONSTITUTIONS AND STATUTES				
Art. I, §9 and 10 Florida Constitution	43			
Art. I, United States Constitution	43			
Section 90.403 Florida Statutes	36,39			
Section 90.610 Florida Statutes (1981)	34			
Section 921.141 Florida Statutes	44,46,47,48			
Section 925.035 Florida Statutes	23			
Section 925.036 Florida Statutes	23			
Section 947.16 Florida Statutes	42,43			
MISCELLANEOUS				
Florida Bules of Criminal Procedure 3 240	22			

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN MILLS, JR.,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

# INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

### I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the defendant below, and will be referred to as "appellant" in this brief. A thirteen volume record on appeal, including transcripts of proceedings below, is sequentially numbered at the bottom of each, and will be referred to as "R" followed by the appropriate page number in parenthesis.

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Art. V, §3(b)(1), Florida Constitution and Section 921.

141(4), Florida Statutes (1981). All proceedings below were before Circuit Judge George Harper.

## II STATEMENT OF THE CASE

By indictment filed May 19,1982, appellant was charged with the premeditated first degree murder of Les Lawhon by a shotgun firearm. Additionally, he was charged with Burglary, Grand Theft, Kidnapping, possession of a firearm by a convicted felon and arson in the second degree (R 1-3). The Public Defender of the Second Judicial Circuit had previously been appointed to represent appellant but withdrew due to a conflict, and private counsel Roosevelt Randolph of Tallahassee, Florida, was appointed on May 24, 1982 (R 5). On June 9, 1982, counsel filed a demand for discovery and the State responded with its first answer on June 22, 1982 (R 15-16). Additional amended answers to discovery were subsequently filed by the State.

Counsel filed a Motion For Statement Of Particulars (R 24-28), a Motion For Mental Examination (R 36-37), a Motion To Dismiss The Indictment (R 80-81), a Motion For Change Of Venue, (R 85-88), a Motion To Sever, etc. The court ordered a severance of the possession of a firearm charge which became case no. 82-137 (R 141). These motions were all disposed of at hearings held on September 10, September 29, October 15, and October 26, 1982. The State filed six (6) Motions in Liminie on December 1, 1982. Those motions were disposed of during the trial.

The cause proceeded to jury trial on November

29,-December 4, 1982 before an all-white jury, on all charges except a possession of a firearm charge. At the conclusion thereof appellant was found guilty as charged (R 2007-2009). Penalty phase proceeding were held on December 4, 1982 and at the conclusion thereof, the jury returned a death recommendation (R 2341). Appellant entered a plea of no contest to the possession of a firearm charge on January 4, 1983. Counsel filed a motion for new trial (R 255-257) which was denied by the court (R 264). The court adjudicated appellant guilty and imposed the death sentence (R 273-274).

On January 13, 1983, a timely notice of appeal was filed (R 309). On January 31, 1983, attorney Roosevelt Randolph was allowed to withdraw (R 315) and the Public Defender's Office of the Second Judicial Circuit was reappointed to represent appellant. On July 11, 1982, after jurisdiction of this court was relinguished to the trial court for purposes of appointing an appellate counsel, attorney Roosevelt Randolph was reappointed.

## III STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

## (A) GUILT PHASE

Appellant renewed his motion for a change of venue shortly before the court called the roll of the jurors (R 341). At that time appellant place into evidence without objection of the state a article which appeared in the Tallahassee Democrat called "Man linked to Lawhon case toTestify Against Partner." The court denied the renewed court for general questioning (R 773).

The state called as its first witness Shirley Lawhon, wife of the victim. She stated that when she left her home in Medart, Florida to go to work about 1:15 p.m. on March 5, 1982, her husband, victim Les Lawhon was lying on the couch in their trailer. At approximately 5:00 p.m. the sheriff's office called and informed her that her trailer had been burned and her husband was missing. She went through the trailer and found that property was missing including a black and white television set, four (4) guns, stereo equipment, jewelry, clocks etc... (R 1126-1131).

William Payne of Medart, Florida, a neighbor of the Lawhons, noted that somewhere between 4:30 and 5:00 p.m. on March 5, 1982 he observed the Lawhon trailer burning. The sheriff's department arrived about 20 or 25 minutes later. (R 1138-1142).

Larry Masser, a deputy sheriff of the Wakulla County

Sheriff's Department stated he was dispatched to the Lawhon trailer at 4:35 p.m., March 5, 1982. Most of the trailer was completely burned down with only the rear of mobile home still standing. He checked the trailer, but did not find a occupant. Later that evening he and other officers attempted to secure the area by placing a tape around the trailer area. The State Fire Marshall's Office and FDLE were called to do an analysis of the area. On cross-examination deputy Masser admitted that there was several hours before the crime scene people sealed off, with many standing was (R1142-1147).

Nayola Darby, a crime labortory analyst with the FDLE was dispatched to Wakulla County to process the crime scene of trailer of Les Lawhon. Ms. Darby identified five (5) photographs of the burned trailer (state's composit exhibit no. 1). She also collected a doorknob from the trailer and turned it over to the firearms section. She found no shoeprints or tireprints of any evidentiary value (R 1147-1154).

Thomas Franklin Easterling, investigator with the State Fire Marshall's Office, after being qualified as an expert stated that upon his examination of the Lawhon trailer burning of March 5, 1982, he determined that the fire originated somewhere in the livingroom. The fire originated off floor level and they were able to eliminate all accidentaltype causes. Therefore he concluded the fire was set by applying an open flame to a combustible product (R

1155 - 1171).

Michael Tyrone Fredrick, who was also charged in the indictment was called to testify. He stated he had been convicted of a felony, three (3) times and was awaiting sentencing on eight (8) other felonies. The charge of First Degree Murder was reduced to Second Degree Murder with no other agreement, as to any particular sentence. Fredrick met appellant in 1976 and saw him again in the Wakulla County jail in February, 1982. They became friends in jail and Fawndretta Galimore, appellant's girlfriend bonded him out of jail upon appellant's request on February 22, 1982. He promised to repay the bond when he started work. Appellant was released from the Wakulla County jail several days later. Appellant and Ms. Galimore came by his trailer upon being released and inquired about a dog that he promised appellant if he could not repay the money. Appellant was driving an orange Dodge truck. He later drove this same vehicle with a white camper on it. He gave appellant a .12 gauge single shot shotgun on that day with the marking "TB" carved on the but of the gun. He saw appellant practically every day after his release from jail. He states he later gave Mill's some money that he had borrowed to pay on the bond (R 11711194).

On March 5, 1982 Michael Federick began his day by using some cocaine. He picked up his girlfriend May Francis Moore and went back to his trailer and stayed there most of the morning. Later that morning appellant came to the trailer and asked did I want to make any money. They left his

trailer and proceeded to appellant's mothers home Buckhorn, Florida. They both got into the camper truck and appellant retreived the .12 guage shotgun that Frederick had given him earlier and placed it in the truck. Appellant was driving and Frederick was the passenger. They then went to a Junior Food Store in Sopchoppy. They began riding and appellant brought up the fact that a hit needed to be made (i.e. a burglary). Appellant then suggested ripping off some They stopped at a house on Surf road, but someone was home so they left. They proceeded to the Lake Ellen area eventually winding up at the Lawhon trailer. Appellant got out of the truck and knocked. Les Lawhon came to the door and let him in. Appellant came back to the door a few minutes later and told him to come on in. He came in and appellant pretended to use the phone. Appellant then grabbed a knife from the table and placed it around Lawhon's neck who was seated with his back to appellant. Frederick then went outside to see if anyone was watching. Appellant then brought Lawhon out of the trailer with the knife and a .12 guage shotgun he had retrieved from the house and placed him in the truck. Federick then drove the truck to an area near Shell Point Resort" at appellant's instruction (R 11941216).

Frederick stopped the truck in a wooded area and told Lawhon to get out. Appellant placed Lawhon on his knees and then tied Lawhon's hands behind his back with a belt. Appellant then took a tire tool from the truck and hit Lawhon on the back part of his head. Lawhon fell forward. Appellant

said "Let's go" but Lawhon jumped up and ran out in a bunch of bushes. Appellant ran after Lawhon with the gun he had taken from Lawhon's residence into the bushes. He heard two (2) shots and Appellant returned without Lawhon. The brown shirt that he was wearing had blood in the stomach area. took the shirt off and threw it out on the way back to the Lawhon trailer. They then went back to Lawhon's trailer and cleaned it out of all the property which included a lady's class ring, an antique clock, weapons, jewelry, television set's, stereo equipment etc. They were not wearing gloves so appellant wiped the door knobs off with a towel. says he did not see any fire when they left the place. Frederick was taken back to the area of his home at Hudson Height Trailer Park and appellant let him out. He did not see appellant after the night of the murder (R 1216-1246).

Frederick later took the lady's class ring he had stolen from the Lawhon's and sold it to the Jewelry box in Tallahassee. He then stated he lied to the police upon his arrest about the sale of the ring. After his arrest in May he took the officers to the area where Lawhon was killed (R On cross-examination, Frederick admitted telling at least ten (10) different lies as to the origin of the ring and other property that came from the Lawhon's residence. He further admitted that he had discussed making a hit on a Mr. Jewel Hudson in late February, 1982, another Wakulla resident. He admitted carrying a firearm in his back pocket during this time but denied telling Greg Rosier that he wanted to make a

hit on Les Lawhon (R 1254-1311). Frederick was later recalled by the State and testified he had been convicted of a crime four (4) times and that he told his roommate that when he wanted to make a hit on Mr. Jewel Hudson, he was talking about burglarizing (R 1327).

Jim Skipper, FDLE agent stated he assisted local Wakulla sheriff's deputies on May 8, 1982 in searching the area that Michael Federick had indicated for the body of Les Lawhon. They located the skeletal remains (R 1320-1326).

Nayola Ruth Darby, crime scene analyst stated on May 8, 1982 she searched the crime scene that the remains of Les Lawhon were located and took measurements and photographs of the scene. She also located clothing, a wallet and wadding from a shotgun shell. She further seized latent fingerprints from appellants dodge truck and turned them over to Doug Barrow of FDLE for examination. Vacum Sweepings, a red sweater and a tire iron from the truck were also seized and turned over to other members of the lab for analysis. On cross-examination she stated that she located a bandana at the crime scene (R 1330-1368).

Robert C. Dailey anthropologist at Florida State University and consultant with FDLE examined the skeletal remains of Les Lawhon. The cause of death was a gunshot wound to the head and neck. He stated he found no evidence of a blow to the head by a blunt instrument (R1368-1396). Dr. Mooney a local dentist in Crawfordville identified the remains of Les Lawhon found at the crime scene as the person

he already had dental records dating back to 1978 (R 1396-1401).

David Harvey, Sheriff of Wakulla County stated after developing information from Michael Frederick as to the whereabouts of the missing property, he searched the residences of Blonzie Mills, of Appellant mother discovered a .12 gauge shotgun and a white truck camper He then arrested Fawndretta Galimore of Tallahassee and searched her residence finding television sets, clocks, silverware and other equipment that came from the Lawhon place (R1401-1416). Charles Landman, deputy sheriff of Wakulla County said he recovered the .12 gauge stolen shotgun form the residence of Blonzie Mills and turned it over to the He also retrieved a recorder from Ms. Gailmore. All property items which were recovered were kept in his He did not recover a .12 quage shotgun with the label "TB" on the stock (R 1416-1431). Deputy Roxie Vause of the Wakulla County Sheriff's Department found some spended .30.30 casings and retrieved them from the Lawhon trailer. He found no .12 guage shotgun (R 1431-1445).

Alvis Horne, identification-technician of the Tallahassee Police Department photographed and collected property from Fawndretta Galimore's residence, which was later identified as stolen property from the Lawhon trailer. He did not locate a .12 gauge shotgun with the label "TB" on the stock (R 1445-1453).

Shirley Lawhon, wife of the victim was recalled. She

identified all of the recovered property as having belonged to she and her husband (R 1454-1460). Rev. Glenn Lawhon father of the victim, was called and testified over the objection of appellant as to the identification of stereo equipment recovered in the Galimore residence as being that belonging to the victim (R 1461-1470).

James Laten, microanalyst at the FDLE stated he compared fibers from the victim's clothes found at the crime scene where skeletal remains were located with vacuum sweepings from appellant's truck and found no fibers like the clothes Linda Hinsley, microanalyst with the FDLE (R 1475-1476). examined, compared and classified hair samples in the investigation of the Les Lawhon case. She examined hair that was seized from the scene where the the body was recovered and a blue bandana found at the scene, both of which were The hair from the characteristic of caucasion head hair. bandana was a light brown hair. She examined the vacuum sweepings from the the truck and did not find any hair like that found at the same. Upon examination of the crime scene one colorless, caucasion head hair was located. colorless hair present in the hair recovered from the scene (R 1476-1488). Douglas Barrow, crime laboratory analyst, specializing in latent prints stated he examined the doorknob from the Lawhon trailer and found no latent prints. He dusted the stolen property from the Lawhon residence and did not identify the latent print of appellant. The alleged murder weapon a .12 guage shotgun (state exhibit no. 25) was

not submitted bylaw enforcement to Mr. Barrow for examination for latent prints (R 1488-1509). Dorethea Munger, crime laboratory analyst in serology examined a .12 gauge shotgun (from crime scene), tire irons (from truck), and a shirt (from road) for the presence of blood. She found no blood on the shotgun or tire irons. She found an indication of blood shirt which could have been animal blood 1509-1523). Don Champagne, firearms examiner with the FDLE, stated he examined the doorknob from the Lawhon trailer and found no evidence of a forced entry. The pellets found in the mandible were fired from a 410 or a .12 gauge shotgun. He could not tell from his examination the gauge of the shotgun that killed Les Lawhon (R 1526-1536). Sanders stated she lived approximately one half of a mile from the Les Lawhon trailer. She recalled a pumpkin orange Dodge pickup with a camper turn around in her driveway with two black males at approximately 2:30 or 3:00 o'clock. On cross examination, she admitted that she had stated upon an earlier deposition that there were three people in the truck, one of which could have been white (R 1537-1548).

James Whitaker, Deputy Sheriff, Wakulla County stated he located at Michael Fredrick's direction a shirt (state exhibit no. 5) about .3 of a mile from the Lawhon trailer. (R 1548-1555).

Fawdrette Galimore, girlfriend of Appellant, was called to testify. She stated she lived in Sopchoppy, Florida with Appellant for a while. She met Michael Fredrick while he was

in jail with Appellant and arranged his bail bond. She and Appellant went by Fredrick's trailer several times to inquire about the bond money. On the day Lawhon's disappearance came on TV, she and Appellant went to Fredrick's trailer that morning. They then went to the convalescent home so that Fredrick could secure permission to give Appellant some dobermans that he had promised. All three then went to Tallahassee and then came back to Fredrick's trailer. three of them then went to the Mills residence in Buckhorn around 1:00 p.m. Appellant and Fredrick talked outside her presence and then left in the truck. Approximately three hours later Appellant and Fredrick returned. Appellant returned a gun from the house and then left again. Appellant returned in about three hours at approximately 6:00, without Fredrick. When he returned, he had a truck load of property which was placed in the shed. Approximately one week later when Appellant was arrested at the courthouse he informed her to remove the property from the shed and house. She removed the property to her home in Tallahassee. She stated that after she removed the property, she spoke to Michael Fredrick who informed her that the property was supposed to have taken care of the \$175.00 debt. Eventually, the sheriff's office She further stated that Appellant removed the property. later wrote her and told her not to be afraid of caucasians. She indicated she had never seen the shirt identified by Fredrick as having been worn by the Appellant. Appellant informed her that the property in the shed had been given to

him in satisfaction of the bond money ( R 1555-1614).

Major Hines a resident of Buckhorn, Florida, stated he had a conversation with Appellant before his arrest at Appellant's mother's house. Appellant alleged stated "Let's do some burglaries." On cross-examination Major Hines stated the conversation took place in June or July, 1982 (months after appellant was incarcerated) (R 1614-1623). Timmons resident of Wakulla County and uncle to Michael Frederick, stated he loaned Fredericks some money and let him off in front of the Mill's residence. He could not recall the date (R 1623-1634). Willie Mae Gavin, mother of Micheal Fredericks, stated she didn't work March 5, 1982. Appellant, Ms. Galimore and her son came by another day and borrowed some money from her. She stated she had never seen her son wear a shirt like state exhibit no. 5 and she has not seen She admitted Frederick did not live with her and most of his clothes had been at his own home (R 1634-1645). Mills, appellants mother stated appellant and Ms. Galimore lived in her house in Sopchoppy. Appellant may have known Les Lawhon through Pigott's Cash and Carry. She assumed appellant knew Les Lawhon (R1645-1650). Ronald Wilson roommate of Michael Frederick stated that he knew both appellant and Federick. Appellant was a leader and Frederick a follower according to Mr. Wilson. He stated that Frederick had clothes in several locations and thus could have had the shirt (state exhibit no. 5) without his knowledge. further stated he didn't go out with Frederick so he really

didn't know what kind of personality Frederick had on the street (R 1650-1656). Earnestine Webster testified she had seen appellant and Frederick together several times (R1656-1660).

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