# IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF FLORIDA

JOHN MILLS, Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA Appellee,

CASE NO. 63,092

FILED

JAN 3 1984

By Chief Deputy Clerk

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

DAVID P. GAULDIN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-0290

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The State accepts Appellant's Preliminary Statement.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State accepts Appellant's Statement of the Case and Facts.

#### POINT ONE

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A CHANGE OF VENUE.

Α

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO AUTHORIZE THE EXPENDITURE OF FUNDS FOR A PUBLIC OPINION POLL IN ORDER FOR APPELLANT TO BOLSTER HIS MOTION FOR A CHANGE OF VENUE.

Appellant argues that, because he was indigent, he was entitled to the expenditure of funds in order to obtain a public opinion poll of the communities' sentiment to support his motion for change of venue.

The one case in Florida that deals with public opinion polls, <u>Irvin v. State</u>, 66 So.2d 288 (Fla. 1953) rejected the use of such polls for this purpose citing the polls' unreliablity. For various reasons, "scientific" public opinion polls are often suspect. <u>See Michael Wheeler's Lies, Damn Lies, and Statistics,</u> (New York: Del, 1976) and the examples therein of the opportunity for manipulation of public opinion survey polls.

The trial court was well aware of the problems associated with the polls and eloquently stated these problems as well or better than the state can:

"This court would be completely wide open, as any other court, from the standpoint that it could not control when a numerous bunch of people from Florida State University runs into a small county and contaminates every possible juror down there, and even having the right to walk

into that courthouse and get the jury list that would be used in this exact case, and start a voir dire on their own, instead of the Court being able to control it in any manner.

This court denies the motion for a public opinion poll in this case.

(R-2370-2371).

As noted earlier by the court, various precautions were taken to insure that appellant received a fair trial. See the discussions of these precautions <u>infra</u>.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to tax costs in order to enable appellant to obtain a public opinion poll on the sentiment in the community towards him.

<u>B</u>

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT MILLS' MOTION FOR A CHANGE OF VENUE BECAUSE THE PUBLICITY DID NOT INFECT THE JURY PANEL.

Appellant argues that the pretrial publicity so infected the jury panel that he should have been entitled to a change of venue.

There was some publicity subsequent to the commission of appellant's crime. In order to attenuate any effect that this publicity might have had on the jury panel, the court increased the number of peremptory challenges from ten to sixteen. (R-344). Additionally, an individual voir dire was undertaken in groups

of three. (R-344; 350).

During the course of this voir dire, appellant renewed his request for a change of venue. (R-1011-1012; 1035). In explaining why appellant would not receive any more additional peremptory challenges and in denying the renewed motions for a change of venue, the court summarized the selection process at that point. As noted by the court, the great majority of the twenty-one individuals challenged for cause were challenged because of their belief against the death penalty and not because of the effect of publicity. (R-1012). At this point, there were still potential jurors left after the individual voir dire. (R-1013). All of these potential jurors swore under oath that they could be fair and impartial and render their verdicts solely based on the evidence presented in the court. (R-1013).

Of those jurors who actually rendered the verdict, the responses of Ms. Pearce and Ms. Brown are typical. Ms. Pearce said that she had read some about the case in the paper and had heard some television reports about the case but did not know any details. She had no fixed opinion about the guilt or innocence of appellant and could render a fair and impartial verdict. (R-719). Likewise, Ms. Brown had read something about the case in the paper but had no opinion about the guilt or innocence of appellant. (R-692). Other actual jurors, such as Mr. Roberts, had heard "just a few things", but had no opinion about the guilt or innocence of appellant. (R-691). And so on, with these responses typical of each of the actual

jurors selected to try the case.

In <u>Dobbert v. Florida</u>, 432 U.S. 282, 97 S.Ct. 2290, 53 L.Ed. 2d 344, 362 ( 1977) the Supreme Court stated:

Petitioner's argument that the extensive coverage by the media denied him a fair trial rests almost entirely upon the quantum of publicity which the events received. He has directed us to no specific portions of the record, in particular the voir dire examination of the jurors, which would require a finding of constitutional unfairness as to the method of jury selection or as to the character of the jurors actually selected. But under Murphy, extensive knowledge in the community of either the crimes or the putative criminal is not sufficient by itself to render a trial constitutionally Petitioner in this case has simply unfair. shown that the community was made well aware of the charges against him and asks us on that basis to presume unfairness of constitutional magnitude at his trial. This we will not do in the absence of a "trial atmosphere... utterly corrupted by press coverage," Murphy v. Florida, supra, at 798. One who is reasonably suspected of murdering his children cannot expect to remain anonymous. Petitioner has failed to convince us that under the "totality of circumstances," Murphy, supra, the Florida Supreme Court was wrong in finding no constitutional violation with respect to the pretrial publicity. The judgement of the Supreme Court of Florida is therefore affirmed. (Emphasis supplied)

See also Murphy v. Florida, 421 U.S. 794,95 S.Ct. 2031,44
L.Ed.2d 589 (1975); Dobbert v. State, 328 So.2d 433, 440
(Fla. 1976); Chandler v. Florida, 449 U.S. 560, 101 S.Ct. 802,
66 L.Ed.2d 740 (1981); Straight v. State, 397 So.2d. 903
(Fla. 1981).

As in Dobbert v. Florida, appellant's argument basically

rests on the mass of the pre-trial publicity, and not its prejudice. The only few particular portions in the record which appellant alleges show prejudice will be discussed separately.

Appellant's first complaint is that the court was forced to use security precautions in order to insure that violence did not erupt in the courtroom. (R-1402-1403). The court, apparently acting in the best interest of everyone, reserved the two rows immediately preceding counsel for security purposes. While this might reflect upon the demeanor of some people present in the courtroom as spectators, it says nothing about the actual jurors selected, who swore under oath that they could be fair and impartial. Clearly this isolated incident does not relate in any way to the wisdom of the trial court in refusing to deny the motion for a change of venue.

The second incidence of alleged particular prejudice in the record occurs at page 1646 where Mr. Randolph complained that Glen Lawhon made some type of gesture directed towards his counsel table. The nature of this gesture is not clear in the record but at any rate the court moved quickly and promptly (with the concurrance of the prosecution) to eliminate the possibility of this occurring again. (R-1646). Again, the relevance of this incident to the selected jurors who actually tried the case is non-existant.

The court increased the number of peremptory challenges

in order to insure a selection of a fair and impartial jury. Jurors, in groups of three, were individually voir dired. The selected jurors who tried the case indicated that the publicity would not be a factor in their decision and that their decision would be based only on the evidence presented in the courtroom. The incidents of prejudice articulated by appellant were irrelevant. The trial court did not err in denying appellant's motion for change of venue.

#### POINT TWO

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO EXCUSE JUROR JOHN C. BYRNE FOR CAUSE.

Appellant argues that the court erred in refusing to excuse juror John C. Byrne for cause because Byrne was <u>not</u> impartial, appellant, with the removal of Byrne had exhausted his peremptory challenges, and the court refused to grant the defense any additional peremptory challenges.

Prior to the excusal of Byrne by appellant's final peremptory challenge, Byrne stated, under oath, that he did not have an opinion about the guilt or innocence of appellant, that even if appellant were convicted Byrne could give a recomendation of life if the circumstances warranted it, that he believed in "justice" and could fairly determine the issues in the case, and that even though he was distantly related to the victim's family, he did not regularly come in contact with them. 693-694;699;1006). Byrne was also acquainted with appellant and appellant's family but there was nothing in this relationship which prevented him from rendering a fair and impartial verdict. (1007). Byrne indicated that he was fully capable of abiding by the instructions given to him by the court. (R-1008-1009).

There was no basis in the record for the trial court to excuse Byrne for cause. Appellant's attorney was given an opportunity to develop information contradictory to the sworn testimony of Byrne but apparently was unable to do so. (R-700-701). Moreover, the trial court had initially increased appellant's peremptory challenges from ten to sixteen, presumably to cover such a situation. (R-344).

Appellant's reliance upon <u>Singer v. State</u>, 109 So.2d 22 (Fla. 1959) is misplaced. In <u>Singer</u>, there is no indication that the trial court had increased the peremptory challenges from those allowed by the Rules of Criminal Proceedure. Additionally, there was a legitimate question (as reflected by the voir dire examination) as to whether the potential juror in <u>Singer</u> could render a fair and impartial verdict. Id. at 19-21.

Here, Mr. Byrne indicated that he could arrive at a fair and impartial verdict based on the evidence, appellant was afforded additional peremptory challenges, and appellant failed to produce any substantial, competent evidence which rebutted Byrne's statements under oath of his impartiality.

The trial court did not err in denying appellant's motion to remove juror Byrne for cause.

#### POINT THREE

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL BASED ON THE PROSECUTION'S PROPER CROSS-EXAMINATION CONCERNING APPELLANT'S PRIOR CONVICTIONS.

Appellant argues that because his counsel brought out the number of his previous convictions on direct the state had no right to do the same on cross-examination and as such, the trial court erred in denying his motion for mistrial.

What is good for the goose is certainly good for the On the direct examination of Michael Fredrick the state elicited the number of times Fredrick had been convicted Thereafter, on cross-examinaof felonies. (R-1172-1173). tion, defense counsel employed a similar tactic, asking Fredrick whether he had been convicted of crimes involving "falsity or dishonesty". (R-1308-1311). The distinction between felony convictions and convictions involving dishonesty or false statements is irrelevant to this issue as both questions may See, §90.610 (1) Fla. Stat. (1981). At any rate, be asked. appellant should be estopped from complaining about a tactic that he employed as well.

Aside from the fact that appellant used this very tactic, the procedure is approved by the case law. If defense counsel brings out on direct-examination a defendent's prior record of felony convictions, the state is still allowed to do the same on cross-examination just so long as the state goes no further

than the permissible proceedure of questioning when the answers elicited from the defendant are truthful. Sneed v. State, 397 So.2d 931, 933 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981) and Leonard v. State, 386 So.2d 51,52 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1980).

See also Professor Ehrhardt's discussion of this matter in 5 Florida Practice, 1982 supplement for use during 1983 at 97.

The trial court properly denied appellant's motion for mistrial 1) because appellant employed the very same tactic that the prosecution used and 2) the proceedure is approved by the case law.

#### POINT FOUR

THE COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY ALLOWING THE TESTIMONY OF GLENN LAWHON CONCERNING IDENTIFICATION OF THE VICTIM'S PROPERTY.

Appellant argues that the trial court abused its discretion in allowing Glenn Lawhon to testify in regard to the identification of the victim's property. Essentially, appellant's argument is that the he "stipulated" to the identification of this property and as such the prosecution had no right to admit the testimony of Glenn Lawhon because its only purpose was to envoke sympathy from the jury.

Initially, it should be noted that although appellant objected to the testimony of Lawhon he did not ask for a mistrial nor did he ask for an instruction to the jury on how to evaluate the testimony of Lawhon. (R-1463-1464). At trial, appellant's objections were based on 1) relevancy (R-1461) and 2) sympathy (R-1464).

The identification of the property by Lawhon (particularly the stereo equipment and the rifle) was relevant because although the victim's wife generally described the property (R-1129-1131) she did not particularly identify it. Moreover, as noted by the prosecutor below, Fredrick's identification of the property was (perhaps) subject to questions by the defense. (R-1465). The identification of the victim's rifle was crucial because

it was found at the Mills' residence and had no serial number on it. (R-1465).

Lawhon's testimony was further useful in establishing the credibility of Fredrick's testimony about how the murder occurred. For instance, Lawhon testified that the victim had never been shot prior to the murder. (R-1462). Lawhon's testimony also helped establish the value of the stereo equipment. (R-1470).

In light of the foregoing, the testimony was clearly relevant. This is particularly so because Fredrick admitted upon cross-examination that he had given at least ten different versions of where the property had been obtained. (R-1292).

Appellant's reliance upon <u>Neering v. Johnson</u>, 390 So.2d 742 (4th DCA 1980) for the proposition that it is reversible error to allow testimony on a stipulated matter is misplaced.

<u>Neering</u> involved a civil matter, not a criminal matter.

The criminal rule is different:

A defendant cannot, by stipulating as to the identity of a victim and the cause of death, relieve the State of its burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt.

Foster v. State, 369 So.2d 928, 930 (Fla. 1979).

Likewise, appellant's reliance upon Welty v. State, 402 So.2d 1159 (Fla. 1981) for the proposition that family members should not identify the victim of a homicide, is misplaced as well. First, the case relates only to the identity of the victim, and not to the identity of property and second, appellant has not suggested to this court any

more competent individual to identify the property other than the family members who testified.

The trial court did not err in allowing Glenn Lawhon to testify regarding the identification of the property.

#### POINT FIVE

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING PHOTOGRAPH B OF STATE'S COMPOSITE EXHIBIT #9 INTO EVIDENCE.

Appellant, recognizing that Adams v. State, 412 So.2d 850 (Fla. 1982) permits the introduction of relevant photographs even if gruesome, argues none the less that 1) the photograph was not relevant and 2) even if it were relevant, its probative value was outweighed by its prejudicial impact.

The photograph was relevant. One of the contentions at trial was whether the victim had received a traumatic blow to the skull prior to his death. This was important because, as the prosecutor argued to the jury, if the victim had received such a blow it corroborated Michael Fredrick's version of how the victim died. (R-1888-1889). Moreover, Mr. Randolph put this issue into contention at the very outset of the trial when he argued in his opening statement to the jury that the doctor would subsequently testify that there was no evidence of trauma on the back of the victim's skull. (R-1113).

Additionally, the photograph of the skull was a "scene" photograph necessary to establish the amount of time that had passed from the time of the victim's death and the time that his remains were discovered. (R-1317). Scene photographs "should be admitted if they properly depict the factual conditions relevant in that they aid the court and jury in finding the truth." Swan v. State, 322 So.2d 485, 487 (Fla.

1975).

Here, the probative value of the photograph in question outweighed any prejudicial impact that it might have had upon the jury because 1) it refuted or at least helped to explain the absence of medical evidence indicating trauma to the skull and 2) it was a scene photograph, properly admissible to show the passage of time between the death of the victim and the finding of his remains.

The trial court did not err in refusing to prohibit the admission of this photograph.

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